Marquette University e-Publications@Marquette

Master's Theses (2009 -)

Dissertations, Theses, and Professional Projects

Influence of Taper on the Flexibility of Nickel-Titanium Rotary Files

Christopher J. Kingma Marquette University

Recommended Citation

Kingma, Christopher J., "Influence of Taper on the Flexibility of Nickel-Titanium Rotary Files" (2014). *Master's Theses* (2009 -). Paper 249.

http://epublications.marquette.edu/theses_open/249

INFLUENCE OF TAPER ON THE FLEXIBILITY OF NICKEL-TITANIUM ROTARY FILES

by

Christopher J. Kingma, D.D.S.

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School, Marquette University, in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

May 2014

ABSTRACT INFLUENCE OF TAPER ON THE FLEXIBILITY OF NICKEL-TITANIUM ROTARY FILES

Christopher J. Kingma, D.D.S.

Marquette University, 2014

Introduction: Modern nickel-titanium instruments have various tapers and have been marketed to have superior flexibility from previous generations. Current ISO standards require force measurements at a static point along the file. Unfortunately, root canal anatomy varies and produces multiple forces along the length of the file. The purpose of this study was to determine the influence of taper on the flexibility of various nickel-titanium files.

Materials and Methods: The flexibility of stainless steel hand files and nickel-titanium rotary files of various tapers was measured. The sample size was 10 for each type, taper and size. The files were measured at 3, 5 and 7 mm from the tip using a digital caliper and marked with a rubber stopper and a distance of 20mm from the tip was used as the deflection point. Each file was securely fastened on a load-sensing cell and bending was accomplished using a universal testing machine to a maximum deflection of 4.5 mm at a rate of 2 mm/minute under room temperature conditions ($22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$). Data was collected electronically via Merlin Software and transferred to Microsoft Excel. Statistical analysis was completed with IBM SPSS Statistics software and a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used as well as a Post-hoc Tukey test.

Results: The force and bending moments of EndoSequence .06 taper files was significantly greater (p<0.05) than EndoSequence .04 and stainless steel hand files at all lengths. No significant difference was noted between EndoSequence .04 and stainless steel hand files from 0.25 mm to 3.0 mm. From 3.5 mm to 4.5 mm, the force and bending moments for stainless steel hand files was significantly greater (p<0.05) than EndoSequence .04 files. Within each file group, the force and bending moments were significantly greater (p<0.05) as the grasp length increased (7 mm>3 mm).

Conclusions: With a vast array of root canal instruments currently available clinicians should consider the properties of instruments before cleaning and shaping. Nickel-titanium files with tapers greater than 0.04 should not be used for apical enlargement of curved canals because these files are significantly stiffer resulting in an increased chance of canal transportation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Christopher J. Kingma, D.D.S.

I would like to thank Dr. Sheila Stover and Dr. Lance Hashimoto for providing unwavering support to Marquette School of Dentistry as well as the Endodontic Department and its residents. I would also like to thank Dr. David Berzins for dedicating his time to provide direction and mentorship throughout this project.

I would especially like to thank my wife Kelly and daughter Katelyn for their love, support and encouragement throughout my educational journey. Without their love and support I would not be where I am today.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS i
LIST OF TABLESiii
LIST OF FIGURESiv
INTRODUCTION1
LITERATURE REVIEW
MATERIALS AND METHODS 12
RESULTS17
Grasp Length17
Force
Bending Moment17
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 – FILES TESTED	. 12
TABLE 2 – FORCE EXHIBITED BY THE FILES AT VARIOUS DEFLECTIONS	. 19
TABLE 3 - BENDING MOMENT EXHIBITED BY THE FILES AT VARIOUS DEFLECTIONS	. 20

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1 - STAINLESS STEEL #30 HAND FILE
FIGURE 2 - ENDOSEQUENCE #30.04 NITI ROTARY FILE14
FIGURE 3 - ENDOSEQUENCE #30.06 NITI ROTARY FILE14
FIGURE 4 - TESTING APPARATUS15
FIGURE 5 - DEFLECTION FROM 0 MM TO 4.5 MM16
FIGURE 6 – FORCE VS. DEFLECTION FOR STAINLESS STEEL FILES
FIGURE 7 – BENDING MOMENTS VS. DEFLECTION FOR STAINLESS STEEL FILES
FIGURE 8 – FORCE VS. DEFLECTION ENDOSEQUENCE 0.04 FILES
FIGURE 9 – BENDING MOMENT VS. DEFLECTION ENDOSEQUENCE 0.04 FILES
FIGURE 10 - FORCE VS. DEFLECTION ENDOSEQUENCE 0.06 FILES
FIGURE 11 - BENDING MOMENT VS. DEFLECTION ENDOSEQUENCE 0.06 FILES
Figure $12 -$ Force vs. deflection comparison of the files when grasped at 3 mm 24
FIGURE 13 - FORCE VS. DEFLECTION COMPARISON OF THE FILES WHEN GRASPED AT 5 MM
FIGURE 14 - FORCE VS. DEFLECTION COMPARISON OF THE FILES WHEN GRASPED AT 7 MM

INTRODUCTION

Non-surgical root canal therapy may be defined as the chemo-mechanical preparation of the root canal system followed by three-dimensional filling with an inert material to restore or maintain the health of the periradicular tissue [1]. Kakehashi et al.'s landmark study in 1965 was the first to definitively show that the presence of bacteria in the root canal system leads to pulpal pathology and periapical breakdown [2]. Based on these findings, the fundamental objective of endodontic treatment is to prevent or resolve apical periodontitis through disinfection and sealing of the root canal system [3].

While sealing of the root canal system is important, it has long been proven that the most important phase of endodontic treatment is cleaning and shaping of the root canal system [1]. Schilder stated that root canal instrumentation should debride the canal of pulpal tissue, remove microbes and affected dentin as well as prepare the canal for obturation [1]. Although research has shown that mechanical instrumentation alone can effectively remove bacteria from the root canal system thorough chemo-mechanical preparation can further reduce the number of microorganisms by 100 to 1000 times that of mechanical instrumentation alone [4, 5].

Recent evidence suggests that the preparation shape (i.e. shaping) and disinfection (i.e. cleaning) are interdependent steps that are intimately related [6]. Cleaning can only be effectively completed after canals have been sufficiently enlarged in the apical segment to allow passive irrigation to facilitate disinfection [7]. Conversely, canal preparation is optimized when mechanical aims are fulfilled and enlargement is acceptable to allow proper sealing [8]. The aim of modern instrumentation techniques involves enlarging the apical third of the root canal system to allow for proper debridement, disinfection and sealing of the canal space while maintaining the original root canal anatomy. Complex canal anatomy provides challenges for clinicians during mechanical instrumentation that may prevent adequate disinfection of the root canal system. Complications such as transportation, perforation, ledging and instrument separation often occur in the presence of complex canal anatomy [8-10]. Various instrumentation techniques have been developed to overcome these challenges including passive step-back, the step-down technique, crown-down pressure less technique and the balanced force technique [11-14]. Despite advances in instrumentation patterns, Weine et al. (1975) concluded that prepared canals showed characteristics reflecting the inability to maintain the general shape of the curved canal [10].

Lim et al speculated that a more flexible instrument would negotiate the complex apical anatomy easier thereby eliminating procedural errors such as apical transportation and zipping [15]. In 1988, Walia et al. introduced nickel-titanium instruments and suggested that they were three times more flexible than traditional stainless steel instruments [16]. While the increased flexibility of nickel-titanium instruments allowed operators to negotiate canal curvatures with greater ease, Camps et al. proved that nickeltitanium instruments actually presented lower torque values at failure than stainless steel instruments, resulting in a higher incidence of instrument separation [17]. Furthermore, it was determined that nickel-titanium instruments had less cutting efficiency than stainless steel instruments [18]. As a result, manufacturers began introducing nickel-titanium files with greater taper to increase the cutting efficiency and reduce torsional fatigue. While these changes resulted in more efficient instruments, the stiffness of the instruments increased. Consequently, clinicians observed more canal transportation following the outer aspect of the curvature in the apical region of root canals [19, 20].

In this study, the flexibility of stainless steel hand files (Roydent Dental Products, Johnson City, TN) and nickel-titanium rotary files (EndoSequence, Brassler USA[®] Dental, Savannah, GA) of various tapers was measured. Current ISO standards (ISO 3630-1) measure the resistance to bending (i.e. flexibility) of root canal instruments (stainless steel or nickel-titanium) by fixing the instrument 3mm from its tip and bending it [21]. The bending moment is measured when the angular deflection reaches 45° [21]. While this approach is acceptable it does not account for instruments with greater taper and the effect they have as canal curvature changes. The purpose of this study was to measure the bending moment of root canal instruments of different tapers at three different points along each file to a maximum deflection of 4.5 mm.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Root canal instruments date back to the year 1746 when Fouchard used annealed piano wire to make instruments by hand [22]. Instrument design continued to evolve through the nineteenth century resulting in the first commercially available intracanal instrument being introduced in 1875 [23]. Hess' seminal paper in 1921 was the first to demonstrate the need for sophisticated root canal instruments due to the complexity of root canal anatomy [24]. The importance of proper chemo-mechanical preparation was described by Stewart in 1955 when he divided root canal therapy into three distinct phases; chemo-mechanical preparation, microbial control and obturation of the root canal [25]. Stewart concluded that while each phase was important for eventual healing of the supporting tissues, chemo-mechanical canal preparation was found to be the most important. Stewart noted that as the root canal was enlarged the number of microorganisms present in the canal was reduced as well as the debris that harbors their growth [25].

Cleaning and shaping as Schilder first described in 1974 was not possible with these primitive instruments as they were designed to simply remove debris and facilitate placement of intracanal medicaments with little attempt to address the biological and mechanical demands of the root canal system. Similar studies at that time illustrated the variations in apical morphology and concluded that all canals must be thoroughly cleaned of pulpal tissue to achieve healing [26].

Based on these anatomical findings a vast array of manual root canal instruments

were advocated. Kerr Manufacturing (Romulus, MI) was the first company to commercially produce root canal instruments when they introduced the K-file, K-reamer and the H-type instrument [8] K-type files and K-type reamers were manufactured by grinding square or triangular cross sections into stainless steel blanks and rotated to create a spiral shape on the file's working surface. H-type instruments were ground from tapered blanks producing a single continuous flute [8].

While the understanding of proper biomechanical objectives had drastically improved, a standardized system of instruments did not yet exist. Using microscopes, Green et al. found that commercially available instruments lacked uniformity resulting in inconsistent mechanical preparation of the root canal system [27, 28]. As a result, Ingle proposed a method of standardizing root canal instruments in 1958 that was later accepted by the Second International Conference on Endodontics and subsequently by the American Association of Endodontists in 1962 [29].

With the standardization came a great deal of research relating to mechanical properties of root canal instruments. Contrary to popular belief, Craig et al reported in 1961 that stainless steel instruments were more resistant to fracture when bending and twisting than carbon steel instruments [30]. In 1964, Sargent et al established the relationship between the cross-sectional design of stainless steel hand instruments and their resistance to fracture [31]. Camps and Pertot corroborated these findings nearly 30 years later when they concluded that the flexibility of stainless steel hand instruments was greatly influenced by cross-sectional design [32]. Specifically, stainless steel hand instruments with a square cross section were significantly less flexible than stainless steel instruments with a triangular cross section [32, 33]. Oliet and Sorin first defined what is

more commonly referred to as stress-strain curves when they developed an apparatus attached to an Instron machine to measure the torsional properties of root canal instruments [34]. By providing a vertical force they were able to determine that the torsional deformation of instruments was determined by the amount of shaft rotation [34].

A great deal of research was conducted in the 1960s and 1970s to better understand the reason for instrument failure. Harty and Sondoozi reported that complete standardization of endodontic instruments was inadequate and suggested detailed specifications such as shaft design, materials, flexibility, colors, etc. were needed [35]. In 1974, the Federation Dentaire Internationale and the International Standards Organization developed new standards for root canal instruments. The American Dental Association followed suit in 1976 when the Council on Dental Materials and Devices established new standards (No. 28) for root canal instruments [36].

The main objectives of cleaning and shaping are to debride the canal of tissue, eradicate the canal of microorganisms as well as provide a uniform taper while maintaining the original canal shape [1]. The literature has shown that root canal systems need to be enlarged sufficiently (i.e. between size #35 and #40 file) to remove debris and to allow for proper irrigation in the apical third of the canal [37-42]. Unfortunately, canal curvatures in the apical region prove the most difficult in attempting to maintain the original root canal anatomy during root canal instrumentation while providing adequate space for passive irrigation. Complications such as canal transportation, zipping, ledging and instrument separation are common procedural errors that occur when instrumenting apical curvatures [10]. Such procedural errors are a direct result of the instruments used during cleaning and shaping [10]. Specifically, the stiffness of the stainless steel alloys used to manufacture root canal instruments provided limitations when negotiating canal curvatures and more importantly, a significant increase in the stiffness of the instruments was seen as the size of the instrument increases [43]. In order to limit procedural errors clinicians and manufacturers adopted numerous methods to overcome the unfavorable mechanical properties of stainless steel alloys when negotiating curved canals.

The first hand instrumentation technique was thought to be the *standardized technique* [13]. The standardized technique implements the same working length for all instruments and relies on the shape of each hand instrument to impart the final shape to the canal [13]. Given the minimal taper (0.02 mm) of the hand instruments currently available, Allison et al concluded that adequate shaping and obturation proved difficult [44]. Realizing the deficiencies of the standardized technique, Weine adapted the stepback technique, which involves a stepwise reduction of the working length in 0.5mm to 1.0mm increments with progressively larger instruments resulting in larger tapered canal preparations [10]. Walton validated the efficacy of the step-back technique in 1976 when he compared the effectiveness of filing, reaming and step-back technique and found that histologic sections showed that step-back filing was significantly more effective than filing and reaming [13]. In order to manage more difficult canal anatomy including canal curvatures and dilacerations with minimal procedural errors, Roane et al. introduced the balanced force technique in 1985 [45].

Another technique that was developed in the early 1980s is considered the stepdown technique. The step-down technique promoted the shaping of the coronal 2/3 of the canal space followed by apical instrumentation [11]. The main advantage of this technique was the apical instruments were unimpeded through most of their length, which facilitated greater control, and less chance of transportation near the apical constriction [8]. Many adaptations of the step-down technique were developed including the popular crown-down pressure less technique by Marshall et al. in 1980 [8]. Morgan and Montgomery's study in 1984 validated Marshall's findings that the crown-down pressure less technique was an effective method of instrumenting curved canals. They concluded that the crown-down technique was superior to the step-back technique in the preparation of canal curvatures ranging from 10 to 35 degrees [12]. Regardless of the instrument or technique used, Weine concluded that prepared canals showed characteristics reflecting the inability to maintain the general shape of the curved canal [10]. Lim and Weber determined that stiffer files resulted in greater apical transportation and speculated that more flexible files might limit these undesirable outcomes [15].

William J. Buehler originally discovered Nitinol (*Nickel-Titanium-Naval Or*dnance *L*aboratory) in 1959 during his research at the Naval Ordnance Laboratory in White Oaks, Maryland [46]. Despite extensive use in orthodontics, Nitinol was not used in endodontics until 1988 when Walia et al. proposed the use of Nitinol nickel-titanium orthodontic wire to fabricate endodontic files [16]. Walia's landmark paper was the first to investigate new metallurgic properties to achieve better outcomes during root canal instrumentation. Citing superior flexibility due to its low modulus of elasticity, Walia et al. theorized that nickel-titanium root canal instruments would yield less procedural errors when instrumenting canal curvatures [16]. Using Nitinol orthodontic wires, fluted triangular cross-sectional shapes were machined directly onto size #15 wire blanks and evaluated based on cantilever bending, clockwise torsion and counterclockwise torsion as defined by Krupp et al. [16, 47]. Walia et al. concluded that Nitinol had a very low modulus of elasticity, one fourth to one fifth the value of stainless steel, resulting in superior elastic flexibility and resistance to fracture [16].

Nickel-titanium instruments are widely used, as they have proven to be far more flexible than traditional stainless steel instruments and substantially reduce the incidence of procedural errors such as transportation and ledging in curved canals [48]. Pettiette et al. found that nickel-titanium instruments produced significantly less canal transportation in the apical third of molars than stainless steel hand instruments in the hands of fourth year dental students [48]. Furthermore, Glosson et al. found that the more flexible nickeltitanium instruments used in engine-driven rotary handpieces had several advantages over hand instrumentation with traditional K-flex files including more centered canal preparations and less transportation [49].

Despite the increased flexibility, clinicians reported increased instrument separation during root canal instrumentation with nickel-titanium files [17, 50]. In 1995, Camps et al. concluded that nickel-titanium instruments actually presented lower torque values at failure than stainless steel instruments resulting in a higher incidence of instrument separation [17]. Pruett et al. found that unlike stainless steel instruments that show visible signs of deformation, nickel-titanium instruments can fracture without any visible defects of permanent deformation [50]. Consequently, a great deal of research was conducted in the early 1990s investigating nickel-titanium instruments and reasons for fracture. Researchers concluded that instruments used in a rotary motion fracture in two distinct ways - torsional fracture and cyclic flexural fatigue [51]. Torsional fracture refers to how much a file can rotate before its plastic limit is reached and the instrument fractures [51]. Cyclic fatigue is caused by repeated tensile and compressive stresses on a file in the area of the curvature [50-52].

In addition to instrument separation nickel-titanium instruments exhibited other shortcomings. Specifically, nickel-titanium instruments were shown to wear faster and have decreased cutting efficiency when compared to traditional stainless steel hand instruments [18, 53]. Coleman and Svec compared step-back preparations in curved canals of resin blocks using nickel-titanium K-files and stainless steel K-files. While their results showed that nickel-titanium instruments caused significantly less transportation than stainless instruments, nickel-titanium instruments took significantly longer to prepare resin blocks than stainless steel instruments [54].

In an effort to reduce torsional fracture and increase cutting efficiency, Tulsa Dental introduced a nickel-titanium file with greater taper, referred to as the 0.04 mm "U" file. According to the manufacturer, these files increased the cutting efficiency from previous generations while reducing instrument failure and reducing the risk of canal transportation [55]. While these changes resulted in more efficient instruments, the stiffness of the instruments increased resulting in more canal transportation towards the outer aspect of the curvature in the apical region of root canals [19, 20].

In 1997, Wolcott and Himel evaluated the torsional properties of stainless steel Ktype .02 taper and nickel-titanium U-type .02 and .04 taper instruments using the current ANSI/ADA Specification #28 [55]. While the torsional properties of both instruments were within the acceptable tolerances as defined by ADA Specification #28, Wolcott and Himel stated that comparing the torque values for the nickel-titanium .04 instruments to the values set forth in ADA Specification #28 for .02 stainless steel instruments had its limitations [55]. Specifically, the taper of the nickel-titanium instruments (0.04mm) was twice that of conventional stainless steel instruments resulting in different tip sizes between the two groups at any given point along the file [55]. Walcott and Himel concluded that these differences might result in greater disparities in tolerances set forth by current testing standards [55].

In 1992, the International Standards Organization set forth new requirements and testing methods for root canal instruments known as ISO 3630-1. According to these standards, resistance to bending (i.e. flexibility) of root canal instruments (stainless steel or nickel-titanium) is measured by fixing the instrument 3mm from its tip and bending it. The bending moment is measured when the angular deflection reaches 45° [21]. This approach does not account for the variety of instruments currently available and the effect they have as canal curvature changes.

Since these standards were first adopted in 1992 research involving nickeltitanium instruments has risen dramatically. Newer generations of nickel-titanium instruments such as Brasseler's (Brasseler USA Dental, Savannah, GA) EndoSequence system have been introduced. These files are made from conventional nickel-titanium triangular blanks without radial lands, and incorporates alternating contact points, which the manufacturer claims to enable the file to stay more centered within the canal thereby reducing canal transportation [56]. While these instruments have been shown to have superior flexibility from previous generations, the inability to maintain original canal anatomy during cleaning and shaping continues to be a problem [57-59].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this study, the flexibility of stainless steel hand files (Roydent Dental Products, Johnson City, TN) and EndoSequence nickel-titanium rotary files (Brassler USA Dental, Savannah, GA) of various tapers was measured. This study utilized ISO size 30 files as this apical preparation size has been shown to effectively reduce the bacterial count while maintaining the original canal anatomy [60].

Brand	Tuno	Tanar	Tin Siza	Sample Size					
Branu	туре	Taper	TIP Size	3mm	5mm	7mm			
Roydent	SS	0.02	30	10	10	10			
Brasseler EndoSequence	NiTi	0.04	30	10	10	10			
Brasseler Endosequence	NiTi	0.06	30	10	10	10			

Table 1 – Files tested

Each file was taken directly from the manufacturer's packaging and measured 25 mm from the tip (i.e. D_0) to the handle. The sample size was 10 for each type, taper and size in accordance with the instructions given in ISO 3630-1 [21]. The tips of each file were measured at 3 mm, 5 mm or 7 mm using a digital caliper and marked with a rubber stopper. A constant deflection point of 20 mm from D_0 was verified using a digital caliper. Each file was placed into a chuck and securely fastened between two metal plates on a load-sensing cell. Bending was accomplished using a universal testing machine (Instron Model 5500R, Norwood, MA) to a maximum deflection of 4.5 mm at a rate of

2mm/minute under room temperature conditions ($22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$). Raw data was collected electronically via Merlin Software and transferred to Microsoft Excel for further analysis. Statistical analysis was completed with IBM SPSS Statistics software (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY) and a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used as well as a posthoc Tukey test.



Figure 1 - Stainless steel #30 hand file



Figure 2 - EndoSequence #30.04 NiTi rotary file



Figure 3 - EndoSequence #30.06 NiTi rotary file



Figure 4 - Testing apparatus



Figure 5 - Deflection from 0 mm to 4.5 mm

RESULTS

Data for stiffness (g/mm), average force (g) and bending moments (g*mm) are shown in Table's 2 and 3 below. Data was analyzed using a two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) and post-hoc Tukey test for both file and grasp length.

Grasp Length

The force and bending moments were significantly greater (p<0.05) within each file group (EndoSequence 0.06, EndoSequence 0.04 and Stainless steel 0.02) as the grasp length increased; 3 mm < 5 mm < 7 mm.

Force

The force (g) to bend EndoSequence 0.06 tapered files was significantly greater (p<0.05) than both EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files and stainless steel hand files from initial deflection to the maximum deflection of 4.5 mm. No significant differences were noted between EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files and stainless steel hand files from initial bending to 3.0 mm. From 3.5 mm to the maximum deflection of 4.5 mm, the force required to bend stainless steel hand files was significantly greater (p<0.05) than EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files.

Bending Moment

The bending moment (g*mm) for EndoSequence 0.06 tapered files was significantly greater (p<0.05) than both EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files and stainless steel hand files from initial deflection to the maximum deflection of 4.5 mm. No significant differences were noted between EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files and stainless steel hand files from initial bending to 3.0 mm. From 3.5 mm to the maximum deflection of 4.5 mm, the bending moment for stainless steel hand files was significantly greater (p< 0.05) than EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files. See figures 6-14 below for graphical analysis of the force vs. deflection curves as well as the bending moment vs. deflection curves for Stainless steel, EndoSequence 0.04 and EndoSequence 0.06 files.

F 1.	Grasph	Stiffness	Force (g)											
rne L	Length (g/mm)	Length	(g/mm)	0.25mm	0.50mm	0.75mm	1.0mm	1.5mm	2.0mm	2.5mm	3.0mm	3.5mm	4.0mm	4.5mm
Stainless steel	3mm	3.73 ± 0.51	1.01 ± 0.18	2.03 ± 0.32	3.02 ± 0.43	3.93 ± 0.54	5.79 ± 0.88	7.50 ± 1.14	9.15 ± 1.51	10.70 ± 1.78	12.11 ± 1.98	13.47 ± 2.18	14.86 ± 2.55	
Sequence 0.04	3mm	3.36 ± 0.71	1.10 ± 0.21	2.03 ± 0.34	2.91 ± 0.53	3.75 ± 0.66	5.33 ± 1.03	6.83 ± 1.26	8.17 ± 1.49	9.40 ± 1.57	10.43 ± 1.62	11.18 ± 1.48	12.02 ± 1.62	
Sequence 0.06	3mm	7.39 ± 1.47	2.15 ± 0.35	4.14 ± 0.69	6.11 ± 1.06	7.89 ± 1.39	11.16 ± 2.06	14.12 ± 2.64	16.76 ± 3.23	18.91 ± 3.56	20.58 ± 3.83	21.38 ± 4.13	21.80 ± 4.10	
Stainless steel	5mm	5.46 ± 0.60	1.40 ± 0.17	2.78 ± 0.33	4.20 ± 0.44	5.51 ± 0.58	8.08 ± 0.82	10.58 ± 1.03	12.88 ± 1.22	15.11 ±1.38	16.99 ± 1.65	18.82 ± 1.71	20.68 ± 2.00	
Sequence 0.04	5mm	5.61 ± 1.25	1.47 ± 0.57	2.91 ± 0.90	4.32 ± 1.23	5.71 ± 1.51	8.13 ± 1.95	10.25 ± 2.44	12.24 ±2.57	14.06 ± 2.81	15.57 ± 2.73	16.56 ± 2.82	17.35 ± 2.65	
Sequence 0.06	5mm	12.81 ± 3.24	3.96 ± 0.90	7.45 ± 1.79	10.84 ± 2.66	13.90 ±3.41	19.66 ± 4.47	24.71 ± 5.43	29.35 ± 6.11	32.74 ± 6.71	35.18 ± 6.77	36.69 ± 6.65	38.02 ± 6.41	
Stainless steel	7mm	13.97 ± 0.92	3.65 ± 0.32	7.11 ± 0.53	10.68 ± 0.79	14.14 ± 0.97	20.62 ± 1.49	26.56 ± 1.93	32.22 ± 2.32	37.38 ± 2.73	41.84 ± 3.19	45.55 ±3.56	49.08 ± 4.00	
Sequence 0.04	7mm	13.12 ± 2.72	3.97 ± 0.77	7.56 ± 1.50	11.02 ± 2.25	14.18 ± 2.84	19.91 ± 3.58	24.86 ± 4.09	28.99 ± 4.24	31.94 ± 4.19	33.93 ± 3.90	34.82 ± 3.79	35.45 ± 3.95	
Sequence 0.06	7mm	40.74 ± 6.09	12.36 ± 1.45	23.66 ± 3.14	34.63 ± 4.79	44.10 ± 6.12	61.18 ± 8.28	74.91 ± 10.37	84.66 ± 11.42	89.75 ± 11.77	92.99 ± 12.27	95.93 ± 12.39	98.93 ± 12.63	

Table 2 – Force exhibited by the files at various deflections

1 21	Grasp	Stiffness	Bending Moment (g*mm)										
File	Length	Length (g/mm)	0.25mm	0.50mm	0.75mm	1.0mm	1.5mm	2.0mm	2.5mm	3.0mm	3.5mm	4.0mm	4.5mm
Stainless steel	3mm	3.73 ± 0.51	17.22 ± 3.11	34.59 ± 5.36	51.27 ± 7.28	66.77 ± 9.23	98.47 ± 14.92	127.49 ± 19.33	155.59 ± 25.62	181.98 ± 30.24	205.80 ± 33.68	228.98 ± 37.04	252.62 ± 43.30
Sequence 0.04	3mm	3.36 ± 0.71	18.76 ± 3.49	34.56 ± 5.80	49.52 ± 9.06	63.77 ± 11.24	90.62 ± 17.45	116.17 ± 21.35	138.90 ± 25.35	159.82 ± 26.61	177.33 ± 27.55	190.00 ± 25.13	204.42 ± 27.61
Sequence 0.06	3mm	7.39 ± 1.47	36.63 ± 5.89	70.43 ± 11.69	103.92 ± 18.08	134.09 ± 23.57	189.76 ± 35.08	240.10 ± 44.85	284.92 ± 54.92	321.45 ± 60.54	349.91 ± 65.12	363.49 ± 70.25	370.59 ± 69.66
Stainless steel	5mm	5.46 ± 0.60	21.05 ± 2.58	41.70 ± 4.88	63.04 ± 6.61	82.59 ± 8.74	121.24 ± 12.29	158.64 ± 15.39	193.17 ± 18.29	226.67 ± 20.66	254.89 ± 24.70	282.26 ± 25.69	310.16 ± 30.06
Sequence 0.04	5mm	5.61 ± 1.25	22.07 ± 8.60	43.62 ± 13.43	64.79 ± 18.49	85.58 ± 22.66	121.92 ± 29.27	153.74 ± 36.66	183.53 ± 38.54	210.92 ± 42.12	233.53 ± 40.89	248.45 ± 42.23	260.24 ± 39.75
Sequence 0.06	5mm	12.81 ± 3.24	59.34 ± 13.52	111.80 ± 26.82	162.53 ± 39.89	208.48 ± 51.13	294.90 ± 66.99	370.58 ± 81.52	440.26 ± 91.63	491.16 ± 100.72	527.77 ± 101.62	550.33 ± 99.72	570.37 ± 96.12
Stainless steel	7mm	13.97 ± 0.92	47.39 ± 4.10	92.41 ± 6.90	138.87 ± 10.26	183.83 ± 12.61	268.06 ± 19.38	345.27 ± 25.15	418.83 ± 30.19	486.00 ± 35.46	543.89 ± 41.51	592.10 ± 46.23	638.09 ± 52.05
Sequence 0.04	7mm	13.12 ± 2.72	51.67 ± 10.05	98.32 ± 19.49	143.23 ± 29.22	184.31 ± 36.94	258.82 ± 46.58	323.12 ± 53.20	376.84 ± 55.16	415.25 ± 54.45	441.08 ± 50.65	452.69 ± 49.22	460.85 ± 51.37
Sequence 0.06	7mm	40.74 ± 6.09	160.73 ± 18.81	307.64 ± 40.88	450.21 ± 62.32	573.30 ± 79.52	795.34 ± 107.68	973.85 ± 134.84	1100.55 ± 148.47	1166.81 ± 152.95	1208.93 ± 159.48	1247.07 ± 161.11	1286.09 ± 164.16

 Table 3 - Bending moment exhibited by the files at various deflections



Figure 6 – Force vs. deflection for stainless steel files



Figure 7 – Bending moments vs. deflection for stainless steel files



Figure 8 – Force vs. deflection EndoSequence 0.04 files



Figure 9 – Bending moment vs. deflection EndoSequence 0.04 files



Figure 10 - Force vs. deflection EndoSequence 0.06 files



Figure 11 - Bending moment vs. deflection EndoSequence 0.06 files



Figure 12 – Force vs. deflection comparison of the files when grasped at 3 mm



Figure 13 - Force vs. deflection comparison of the files when grasped at 5 mm



Figure 14 - Force vs. deflection comparison of the files when grasped at 7 mm

DISCUSSION

The fundamental objective of non-surgical root canal therapy is to prevent or resolve pulpal pathology and periapical pathosis. [3] Proper cleaning and shaping should result in elimination of microorganisms from the canal system while simultaneously providing a continuously tapered canal to facilitate obturation. [1] Cleaning and shaping is a chemo-mechanical process in which mechanical instrumentation plays a crucial role by removing infected dentin and facilitating the apical flow of irrigants to disinfect the canal system. Complex canal anatomy provides challenges for clinicians during mechanical instrumentation that may prevent adequate disinfection of the root canal system. [50] Complications such as transportation, perforation, ledging and instrument separation often occur in the presence of complex canal anatomy.[8-10] Prior to the introduction of nickel-titanium instruments, several instrumentation techniques were developed to overcome these challenges. While these techniques were widely accepted, Weine proved that all techniques showed an inability to maintain the general shape of the original canal anatomy. [10]

In 1988, Walia et al. introduced nickel-titanium instruments, which had three times the flexibility of traditional stainless steel hand instruments. [16] Numerous studies have shown that the use of nickel-titanium instruments minimizes procedural errors resulting in more predictable outcomes. [50] While nickel-titanium alloys exhibit improved elasticity; this elasticity is limited by the size and taper of the instrument used. [61] Instruments of greater taper have been shown to have increased stiffness resulting in an increased risk of transportation in curved canals. [61] Current ISO standards specify maximum values for stiffness and bending moments for root canal instruments with 0.02 mm taper. While this approach is widely accepted, these standards do not account for instruments with greater taper and the effect they have on the file's flexibility. The purpose of this study was to measure the bending moment of root canal instruments of different tapers at three different points along each file to a maximum deflection of 4.5 mm to determine the forces required to bend the instruments.

The results of this study indicate that the degree of taper affects the amount of force required to bend files. The stiffness test revealed that the bending moments for the EndoSequence 0.06 tapered instruments were significantly greater at all lengths than the bending moments for EndoSequence 0.04 tapered instruments and the stainless steel hand files with 0.02 taper. These results correspond with previous findings that greater tapered instruments (> 0.04) are significantly stiffer than those of lesser-tapered instruments. [33, 50] No significant differences were noted between EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files and stainless steel hand files from initial bending to 3.0 mm. However, from 3.5 mm to maximum deflection of 4.5 mm, the bending moment for stainless steel hand files was significantly greater (p < 0.05) than EndoSequence 0.04 tapered files. These results agree with Walia et al.'s original findings that nickel-titanium instruments are more flexible than traditional stainless steel hand instruments and are able to negotiate canal curvatures more easily resulting in less apical transportation. [16]

Surprisingly, little research exists regarding the bending properties of root canal instruments at different grasp lengths. A review of the literature showed that most research follows ISO 3630-1 and measures the bending moment by grasping the file 3mm

from the tip and bending the file 45°. The results of this study showed that in addition to taper, grasp length also greatly influences the amount of force required to bend files. Specifically, the force and bending moments were significantly greater (p<0.05) within each file group (EndoSequence 0.06, EndoSequence 0.04 and Stainless steel 0.02) as the grasp length increased; 3 mm < 5 mm < 7 mm. As root canal anatomy is diverse and no two canals are similar new testing protocols that account for canal curvatures at various points throughout the canal should be considered.

CONCLUSION

During root canal preparation, endodontic instruments are subjected to a variety of forces as canal anatomy changes. Therefore instruments should have properties capable of minimizing the possibility of undesirable procedural errors such as canal transportation and ledging. Although nickel-titanium instruments were introduced to eliminate undesirable changes, studies have shown that as stiffness increased the incidence of transportation in the apical region of canals increased as well. The results of the present study confirmed previous findings and indicate that nickel-titanium instruments of greater taper significantly affects the amount of force required to bend a file thereby decreasing the file's flexibility. Furthermore, regardless of the type of instrument used (i.e. stainless steel or nickel-titanium) the point of deflection on the file significantly affects the force required to bend the file.

With a vast array of root canal instruments currently available, clinicians should consider the metallurgical properties of instruments before cleaning and shaping. Specifically, nickel-titanium files with tapers greater than 0.04 mm should not be used for apical enlargement of curved canals because these files are significantly stiffer than 0.02 mm and 0.04 mm files resulting in an increased likelihood of canal transportation.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Schilder, H., *Cleaning and shaping the root canal*. Dent Clin North Am, 1974. 18(2): p. 269-96.
- 2. Kakehashi, S., H.R. Stanley, and R.J. Fitzgerald, *The effects of surgical exposures* of dental pulps in germ-free and conventional laboratory rats. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1965. **20**: p. 340-9.
- 3. Orstavik, D., V. Qvist, and K. Stoltze, *A multivariate analysis of the outcome of endodontic treatment*. Eur J Oral Sci, 2004. **112**(3): p. 224-30.
- 4. Bystrom, A. and G. Sundqvist, *Bacteriologic evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy*. Scand J Dent Res, 1981. **89**(4): p. 321-8.
- 5. Ingle, J.I. and B.J. Zeldow, *An evaluation of mechanical instrumentation and the negative culture in endodontic therapy*. J Am Dent Assoc, 1958. **57**(4): p. 471-6.
- 6. Hsieh, Y.D., et al., *Dynamic recording of irrigating fluid distribution in root canals using thermal image analysis.* Int Endod J, 2007. **40**(1): p. 11-7.
- 7. Khademi, A., M. Yazdizadeh, and M. Feizianfard, *Determination of the minimum instrumentation size for penetration of irrigants to the apical third of root canal systems*. J Endod, 2006. **32**(5): p. 417-20.
- 8. Cohen, S. and K. Hargreaves, *Pathways of the Pulp*. 10th ed2011: Elsevier.
- 9. Bakland, L.K., *Endodontic mishaps: perforations*. J Calif Dent Assoc, 1991. **19**(4): p. 41-4, 46-8.
- 10. Weine, F.S., R.F. Kelly, and P.J. Lio, *The effect of preparation procedures on original canal shape and on apical foramen shape*. J Endod, 1975. **1**(8): p. 255-62.
- 11. Goerig, A.C., R.J. Michelich, and H.H. Schultz, *Instrumentation of root canals in molar using the step-down technique*. J Endod, 1982. **8**(12): p. 550-4.

- 12. Morgan, L.F. and S. Montgomery, *An evaluation of the crown-down pressureless technique*. J Endod, 1984. **10**(10): p. 491-8.
- 13. Walton, R.E., *Histologic evaluation of different methods of enlarging the pulp canal space*. J Endod, 1976. **2**(10): p. 304-11.
- 14. Weine, F.S., et al., *Pre-curved files and incremental instrumentation for root canal enlargement.* J Can Dent Assoc (Tor), 1970. **36**(4): p. 155-7.
- 15. Lim, K.C. and J. Webber, *The validity of simulated root canals for the investigation of the prepared root canal shape*. Int Endod J, 1985. **18**(4): p. 240-6.
- Walia, H.M., W.A. Brantley, and H. Gerstein, *An initial investigation of the bending and torsional properties of Nitinol root canal files*. J Endod, 1988. 14(7): p. 346-51.
- Camps, J.J. and W.J. Pertot, *Torsional and stiffness properties of nickel-titanium K files*. Int Endod J, 1995. 28(5): p. 239-43.
- 18. Tepel, J., E. Schafer, and W. Hoppe, *Properties of endodontic hand instruments used in rotary motion. Part 1. Cutting efficiency.* J Endod, 1995. **21**(8): p. 418-21.
- 19. Schafer, E. and D. Lohmann, *Efficiency of rotary nickel-titanium FlexMaster instruments compared with stainless steel hand K-Flexofile--Part 1. Shaping ability in simulated curved canals.* Int Endod J, 2002. **35**(6): p. 505-13.
- Schafer, E., A. Dzepina, and G. Danesh, *Bending properties of rotary nickeltitanium instruments*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod, 2003. 96(6): p. 757-63.
- 21. ISO 3630-1, Dental root-canal instruments-Part 1: files, reamers, barbed broaches, rasps, paste carriers, explorers and cotton broaches., 1992: Switzerland.
- 22. Fouchard, P., *The surgeon dentist. Translated from 2nd Ed. by L. Lindsay*1746, London.
- 23. Grossman, L., Root Canal Therapy. 2nd ed1946, Philedelphia: Lea & Febiger.

- 24. Hess, W., Formation of root canals in human teeth. J Am Dent Assoc, 1921. 8: p. 704-34.
- 25. Stewart, G.G., *The importance of chemomechanical preparation of the root canal.* Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1955. **8**(9): p. 993-7.
- Kuttler, Y., *Microscopic investigation of root apexes*. J Am Dent Assoc, 1955. 50(5): p. 544-52.
- 27. Green, D., *Morphology of the pulp cavity of the permanent teeth*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1955. **8**(7): p. 743-59.
- 28. Green, E.N., *Microscopic investigation of root canal file and reamer widths*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1957. **10**(5): p. 532-40.
- 29. Ingle, J.I., *The need for endodontic instrument standardization*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1955. **8**(11): p. 1211-3.
- 30. Craig, R. and F. Peyton, *Physical properties of root canal files and reamers*. J Dent Res, 1961. **40**: p. 770.
- 31. Sargent, J. and J. Stemler, *Torsional properties of endodontic files and reamers*. J Dent Res, 1964. **43**: p. 927.
- 32. Camps, J.J. and W.J. Pertot, *Relationship between file size and stiffness of stainless steel instruments*. Endod Dent Traumatol, 1994. **10**(6): p. 260-3.
- Schafer, E. and J. Tepel, *Relationship between design features of endodontic instruments and their properties. Part 3. Resistance to bending and fracture.* J Endod, 2001. 27(4): p. 299-303.
- 34. Oliet, S. and S.M. Sorin, *Torsional tester for root canal instruments*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1965. **20**(5): p. 654-62.
- 35. Harty, F.J. and A.E. Sondoozi, *The status of standardised endodontic instruments*. J Br Endod Soc, 1972. **6**(3): p. 57-62.

- New American Dental Association Soecification no. 28 for endodontic files and reamers. Council on Dental Materials and Devices. J Am Dent Assoc, 1976. 93(4): p. 813-7.
- 37. Ram, Z., *Effectiveness of root canal irrigation*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1977. **44**(2): p. 306-12.
- 38. Salzgeber, R.M. and J.D. Brilliant, *An in vivo evaluation of the penetration of an irrigating solution in root canals.* J Endod, 1977. **3**(10): p. 394-8.
- Chow, T.W., *Mechanical effectiveness of root canal irrigation*. J Endod, 1983. 9(11): p. 475-9.
- 40. Siqueira, J.F., Jr., et al., *Mechanical reduction of the bacterial population in the root canal by three instrumentation techniques*. J Endod, 1999. **25**(5): p. 332-5.
- 41. Shuping, G.B., et al., *Reduction of intracanal bacteria using nickel-titanium rotary instrumentation and various medications*. J Endod, 2000. **26**(12): p. 751-5.
- 42. Albrecht, L.J., J.C. Baumgartner, and J.G. Marshall, *Evaluation of apical debris removal using various sizes and tapers of ProFile GT files*. J Endod, 2004. **30**(6): p. 425-8.
- 43. Craig, R.G., E.D. Mc Ilwain, and F.A. Peyton, *Comparison of theoretical and experimental bending and torsional moments of endodontic files and reamers.* J Dent Res, 1967. **46**(5): p. 1058-63.
- Allison, D.A., C.R. Weber, and R.E. Walton, *The influence of the method of canal preparation on the quality of apical and coronal obturation*. J Endod, 1979. 5(10): p. 298-304.
- 45. Roane, J.B., C.L. Sabala, and M.G. Duncanson, Jr., *The "balanced force" concept for instrumentation of curved canals.* J Endod, 1985. **11**(5): p. 203-11.
- 46. WJ, B., W. RC, and G. JV, *Effect of low-temperature phase changes on mechanical properties of alloys near composition Tini*. Journal of Applied Physics, 1963. **34**: p. 1475-1477.

- Krupp, J.D., W.A. Brantley, and H. Gerstein, *An investigation of the torsional and bending properties of seven brands of endodontic files*. J Endod, 1984. **10**(8): p. 372-80.
- 48. Pettiette, M.T., et al., *Endodontic complications of root canal therapy performed by dental students with stainless-steel K-files and nickel-titanium hand files.* J Endod, 1999. **25**(4): p. 230-34.
- Glossen, C.R., et al., A comparison of root canal preparations using Ni-Ti hand, Ni-Ti engine-driven, and K-Flex endodontic instruments. J Endod, 1995. 21(3): p. 146-51.
- 50. Pruett, J.P., D.J. Clement, and D.L. Carnes, Jr., *Cyclic fatigue testing of nickeltitanium endodontic instruments.* J Endod, 1997. **23**(2): p. 77-85.
- 51. Lopes, H.P., et al., *Comparison of the mechanical properties of rotary instruments made of conventional nickel-titanium wire, M-wire, or nickel-titanium alloy in R-phase.* J Endod, 2013. **39**(4): p. 516-20.
- Sattapan, B., et al., *Defects in rotary nickel-titanium files after clinical use*. J Endod, 2000. 26(3): p. 161-5.
- Tepel, J., E. Schafer, and W. Hoppe, *Properties of endodontic hand instruments used in rotary motion. Part 3. Resistance to bending and fracture.* J Endod, 1997. 23(3): p. 141-5.
- 54. Coleman, C.L. and T.A. Svec, *Analysis of Ni-Ti versus stainless steel instrumentation in resin simulated canals.* J Endod, 1997. **23**(4): p. 232-5.
- 55. Wolcott, J. and V.T. Himel, *Torsional properties of nickel-titanium versus stainless steel endodontic files.* J Endod, 1997. **23**(4): p. 217-20.
- 56. Koch, K.A. and D.G. Brave, *Real World Endo Sequence File*. Dent Clin North Am, 2004. **48**(1): p. 159-82.
- Iqbal, M.K., et al., An in vitro comparison of Profile GT and GTX nickel-titanium rotary instruments in apical transportation and length control in mandibular molar. J Endod, 2010. 36(2): p. 302-4.

- 58. Karabucak, B., et al., *A comparison of apical transportation and length control* between EndoSequence and Guidance rotary instruments. J Endod, 2010. **36**(1): p. 123-5.
- Setzer, F.C., T.K. Kwon, and B. Karabucak, *Comparison of apical transportation between two rotary file systems and two hybrid rotary instrumentation sequences*. J Endod, 2010. 36(7): p. 1226-9.
- 60. Yared, G.M. and F.E. Dagher, *Influence of apical enlargement on bacterial infection during treatment of apical periodontitis*. J Endod, 1994. **20**(11): p. 535-7.
- 61. Pongione, G., et al., *Flexibility and resistance to cyclic fatigue of endodontic instruments made with different nickel-titanium alloys: a comparative test.* Ann Stomatol (Roma), 2012. **3**(3-4): p. 119-22.